IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUIS HIDALGO, JR.,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed
Jul 25 2017 08:33 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 71458

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

The Honorable Valerie Adair, District Judge

District Court Case No. 08C241394

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931

MCLETCHIE SHELL LLC

701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520

Las Vegas, Nevada 89101

Telephone: (702) 728-5300

Fax: (702) 425-8220

Email: maggie@nvlitigation.com

Counsel for Appellant

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the denial of a post-conviction petition for writ of habeas corpus. The district entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law denying Appellant Luis Hidalgo, Jr.’s petition on September 19, 2016. (22 PA3812-3861¹.) Hidalgo submitted a timely notice of appeal on October 3, 2016. (22 PA3862-3864); *see also* Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure (“NRAP”) 4(b)(1)(A) (mandating that a notice of appeal by a defendant or petitioner in a criminal case shall be filed with the district court clerk within 30 days after the entry of the judgment or order being appealed). This appeal is subject to this Court’s jurisdiction pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 34.575.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court because it is an appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief pursuant to an order filed by the district court. *See* Nevada Rule of Appellate Procedure 17(a)(2).

¹ Citations to Petitioner’s Appendix (“PA”) are to both volume and page number(s). Hence, “12 PA3812-3861” refers to volume 22 of the Petitioner’s Appendix at pages 3812 through 3861. Hidalgo has also submitted a portion of his appendix in this matter under seal. Citations to the sealed appendix will be labelled “SPA.”

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether trial counsel's multiple substantial conflicts of interest deprived Mr. Hidalgo of effective assistance of counsel.
2. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel at the pretrial litigation stage by conceding to the State's motion to consolidate Mr. Hidalgo's case with the cases of his co-defendants.
3. Whether trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel by failing to investigate and use available evidence to effectively impeach the credibility of Anabel Espindola, one of the co-defendants in this matter who became the State's chief witness.
4. Whether appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the admission of prejudicial hearsay at trial.
5. Whether Mr. Hidalgo's conviction and sentence are constitutionally infirm due to the cumulative effect of trial counsel's deficient performance.
6. Whether the district court erred in denying Mr. Hidalgo's petition for a writ of habeas corpus without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the denial of Appellant Luis Hidalgo, Jr.’s² post-conviction petition for a writ of habeas corpus. The State charged Hidalgo by way of an Amended Indictment dated May 1, 2008, with Conspiracy to Commit Murder and Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. (3 PA 239-41.) Following a fourteen-day jury trial, Hidalgo was convicted of one count of Conspiracy to Commit Battery with a Deadly Weapon or Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm, and one count of Second Degree Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon. (18 PA3061-62 (judgment of conviction); *see also* 18 PA3065-66 (amended judgment of conviction).) These convictions stem from Hidalgo’s alleged participation in the murder of Timothy Hadland on May 19, 2005. The case involved multiple co-defendants, several of whom received far shorter sentences in exchange for cooperating with the State.

In his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction),³ Hidalgo asserted several claims for relief related to the ineffective assistance of counsel. Hidalgo asserted that trial counsel had several conflicts of interest that rendered his

² Mr. Hidalgo’s son, Luis Hidalgo, III, was a co-defendant in this case. To avoid confusion, the statement of facts and argument in this brief refer to Mr. Hidalgo as “Hidalgo” and his son as “Hidalgo III.”

³ (*See generally* 1 PA0001-0047 (Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).)

representation fundamentally ineffective, failed to provide effective assistance of counsel during the pretrial stages of litigation, and failed to provide effective assistance of counsel on appeal. Hidalgo also asserted trial counsel's multiple failings, taken cumulatively, deprived him of his Sixth Amendment right to adequate representation. Following briefing, the district court denied Hidalgo's request for an evidentiary hearing, entering an order on September 19, 2016 denying all of his claims. (22 PA3812-3861.) This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Death of Timothy Hadland

At approximately 9:00 to 10:00 p.m. on May 19, 2005, Timothy Hadland was camping at Lake Mead with his girlfriend, Paijit Karlson, when he received a walkie-talkie call on his cell phone. (5 PA0742, 0747-48, 0750.) After the call, Hadland told Karlson he was going to meet "Angelo," a co-worker at Hadland's former place of employment, the Palomino Club (the "Club"). (5 PA0748-49.) Hadland told Karlson he was meeting "Angelo" to obtain marijuana. (5 PA0749.)

Karlson became concerned after Hadland failed to return, and attempted to call him several times. (5 PA0750-51.) At approximately 11:30 p.m. that evening, picnickers discovered Hadland's body on North Shore Road near Lake Mead. (5 PA0711-12, 0717-18.) Hadland had sustained two gunshot wounds to his body, one

of which was on the left side of his cheek. (6 PA0908-09.) Thirty-three advertisement cards from the Club were found next to Hadland's body. (5 PA0793.)

At the time of trial in this matter, co-defendant Rontae Zone testified he was present at Hadland's shooting death. (6 PA 0958.) Zone testified he was a relatively recent friend of co-defendant Deangelo Carroll in May of 2005. (6 PA0927.) On May 19, 2005, Zone was residing with Carroll, along with Carroll's wife and Zone's "baby's mother." (6 PA0928.) Zone was working with Carroll passing out Palomino Club flyers to cab companies. (*Id.*) During this employment, Carroll paid Zone under the table. (6 PA0932.)

At approximately noon on May 19, 2015, Zone was with Carroll and "JJ" [co-defendant, Jason Taoipu] in a white Astro van registered in the name of Anabel Espindola when Carroll informed them both that "Mr. H [Hidalgo] wanted someone killed." (6 PA0932; PA0935-36.) However, Zone admitted Carroll only said that Hidalgo wanted to have the person "dealt with." (6 PA0938.) Zone further admitted Carroll had never used the word murder and that "dealt with" was the only terminology used. (6 PA0984.) Zone admitted he learned all this information from Carroll and did not speak directly to Hidalgo (7 PA1045.) At this point, Carroll asked Zone and Taoipu whether they wanted to be involved in the killing. (6 PA0935-36.) Zone said no, while Taoipu stated he was "down." (*Id.*) Zone testified that he was

somewhat skeptical of the proposition, as he knew Carroll to be a “big talker” and someone who wasn’t trustworthy. (7 PA1049, 1094.)

Zone, Carroll, and Taoipu then went to Carroll’s house to put on the black pants and shirts they wore when promoting the Club. (6 PA0940.) The three men next traveled to a home on F Street to pick up “KC” [co-defendant Kenneth Counts]. (6 PA0944.) Zone had not met KC prior to this night. (6 PA0944.) The four men then drove to Lake Mead. (6 PA0947.) Not long after entering the Lake Mead area, the conversation resumed regarding killing Hadland. (6 PA0949.) It was Zone’s understanding that Carroll had told Hadland on the phone that they were going to smoke marijuana and “chill.” (6 PA0950.) He also heard Carroll on the phone with co-defendant Anabel Espindola, wherein Espindola told Carroll “go to plan B” and Carroll responded “we’re too far along Ms. Anabel.” (7 PA1117.) Eventually Zone spotted Hadland driving toward them in a Kia Sportage, which he parked on the side of the road. (6 PA0955-56.)

Carroll then parked the Astro Van and relieved himself on the side of the road while Hadland got out of his car. (6 PA0956.) Carroll came back into the car and talked with Hadland at the window. (6 PA0957.) While this was going on, Counts exited the sliding door of the Astro van, approached Hadland, and shot him in the head. (6 PA0958.) After the shooting, Counts quickly hopped in the van and Carroll

drove off. (6 PA0959.) Counts then asked Zone and Taoipu why they did not assist him. (6 PA0960.)

The four men then drove to the Club, where Carroll parked and went inside, leaving Zone, Counts, and Taoipu in the van. (6 PA0961.) About ten minutes later, Carroll retrieved Counts and brought him into the club. (*Id.*) Eventually Counts came out of the club, got in a cab, and left. (6 PA0962.) Carroll came out of the club thirty minutes later. (*Id.*) Zone, Carroll, and Taoipu then went to Carroll's house. (6 PA0963.)

The next morning, the three men drove to Simone's Auto Plaza, a business Hidalgo owned. (6 PA0967.) Zone and Taoipu waited outside while Carroll went inside. (6 PA968.) Carroll went into the back and allegedly briefly spoke to Hidalgo (6 PA0969, 0971.) Carroll allegedly told Zone after the incident that "Mr. H was going to pay \$6,000.00 to the man" that killed Hadland. (6 PA0942.) Later, Carroll told Zone they would not be paid, and chastised Taoipu and Zone for not participating. (6 PA0969-71) but that Counts would get \$6,000.00. (*See id.*)

B. The Investigation

Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") Sergeant Michael McGrath responded to the crime scene on North Shore Road on May 19, 2005. (7 PA1194.) He was able to identify a Kia Sportage as belonging to Hadland's girlfriend. (7 PA1201.) McGrath located Hadland's cell phone on the driver's seat

floorboard. (7 PA1202.) He opened the phone and noted that a recent call was displayed with the name “Deangelo” and a Nextel number. (*Id.*) McGrath was able to later identify the caller as Carroll. (7 PA1205.)

At approximately 7:00 to 7:30 a.m. on May 20, 2005, McGrath accompanied Detective Marty Wildemann to the Club to meet with “Arial,” the office manager, to obtain Carroll’s address and phone number. (7 PA1207.) Carroll had also arrived at the club. (7 PA1208.) Wildemann and McGrath asked Carroll to accompany them to the homicide office and he voluntarily complied. (7 PA1209.) When interviewed, Carroll gave three different statements about the course of events on May 19. (11 PA1735.) When interviewed, Zone’s story was allegedly consistent with the third version of Carroll’s account. (7 PA1212; 11 PA1741.)

McGrath then developed a plan to “have Mr. Carroll meet with the people that owned the Club and record a conversation with those people to determine the accuracy as to what had happened that night.” (7 PA1214.) On May 23, 2005, McGrath contacted FBI Special Agent Bret Shield to obtain a recording device for Carroll to wear while meeting with Hidalgo (8 PA1245-46.) Shield and McGrath met with Carroll at approximately 2:35 p.m. that same day to place the device and prep Carroll. (8 PA1246-47.) McGrath specifically told Carroll he wanted to hear Hidalgo on tape. (8 PA1248.) After the surveillance team witnessed Carroll enter and later leave Simone’s, McGrath and Shield met with Carroll and recovered the

recording device, \$1,400.00, and a bottle of gin. (8 PA1249.) McGrath admitted that recording was poor quality. (8 PA1253.)

At trial, the surreptitious recording was played to the jury. (8 PA1274.) Due to differences between the State's and Hidalgo III's defense counsel's interpretation of the content on the recordings, two transcripts were provided to the jury to aid their understanding of the communications. (8 PA1260, 1274.) On both transcripts of the May 23, 2005 recording, Carroll can be heard speaking with Espindola and Hidalgo III (18 PA2956-2972, 2983-3012.) Although the quality of the tape was so poor that there were a number of blank lines on the transcript, Carroll could be heard asking for money to give the people that were with him because they were threatening to go to the police. (PA 2799-2800.) Espindola responded she did not know where she was going to get the money, but that she had "maybe six bills." (18 PA2959.)

Espindola stated:

. . . if the cops can't go no where with you, the shits gonna have to, fucking end, they gonna have to go someplace else, they're still gonna dig. They are gonna keep digging they're gonna keep looking they're gonna keep on, they're gonna keep on looking. Louie [Hidalgo]⁴ went to see an attorney not just for him but for you as well, just in case. Just in case...we don't want it to get to that point, I'm telling you because if we have to get to that point, you and Louie are gonna have to stick together.

(18 PA2960.)

⁴ Although it is unclear from the name "Louie" if Espindola is referring to Hidalgo or Hidalgo III, Espindola testified she was referring to Hidalgo (10 PA1470.)

Espindola also said “Why are you saying that shit, what we really wanted was for him to be beat up, then anything else, _____ motherfucking dead.” (18 PA2960.) Espindola continued to try and calm Carroll down, and emphasized the importance of Carroll taking care of this problem:

If you go to jail for this shit I’m telling you, when the heat goes down everybody’s fucked. The club is gone, the shop is gone, anybody who can take care of your family is fucking gone, he is the only one that can fucking say to take care of everybody... He’s it.

(18 PA2961.) Espindola also said she was going to give Carroll some money to “maintain” himself. (18 PA2962.) Espindola then returned to berating Carroll:

You should of fucking turned your ass around, before this guy...knowing that you had people in the fucking car that could pinpoint you, that this motherfucker had his wife, you should of motherfucking turned around on the road, don’t give a fuck what KC said, you know what bad deal turn the fuck around.

(18 PA2963.)

Hidalgo III then asked Carroll “could you have fucking KC kill them too, we’ll fucking put something in their food so they die rat poison or something.” (18 PA2964.) Later Hidalgo III talked about giving Carroll a bottle of Tanqueray and said something to the effect of “you stir in the poison.” (18 PA2970.) Shortly after that comment, the recording ends. At no point can the voice of Hidalgo be heard.

After listening to the May 23 recording, McGrath decided to send Carroll back to Simone’s on May 24. (8 PA1254.) After sending him in for the second time, McGrath recovered \$800.00 in cash and another recording from Carroll. (8 PA1255.)

The second recording was of better quality, but contained approximately twenty-eight minutes of blank tape. (8 PA1257.) This recording was also played for the jury. It memorialized a conversation between Carroll and Espindola. (8 PA2974, 2978.) In this conversation, Carroll informed Espindola he needed money to get his wife and child out of town. (8 PA2974-75.) Carroll supported his plea for money by stating he did everything that was asked of him and that he “took care of him”—presumably referring to Hadland. Espindola responded stating “___talk to the guy not fucking take care of him ____god damn it I fucking called you.” (8 PA2975.) Espindola went on:

I said to go to plan B fucking Deangelo and Deangelo you’re just minutes away___I told you no I fucking told you no, and I kept trying to fucking call you but you turned off your mother fucking phone.

(*Id.*)

At this point, Hidalgo III apparently entered the room to ask what was happening. (8 PA2976.) Carroll informed Hidalgo III that KC was threatening to kill his wife and child and that he wanted more money. (*Id.*) Espindola then states:

All I telling you is denial cause I’m fucking saying and I already said I don’t know shit I don’t know shit fucking I don’t know a mother fucking thing and that’s how I got to fucking play it. And that’s how I told everybody else to play it_____

(*Id.*) Once again, at no point is Hidalgo on the tape.

///

///

C. The Indictment of Hidalgo's Co-Defendants

On June 20, 2005, Counts, Hidalgo III, Espindola, and Carroll were charged via Information in Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. C212667 with murder and other charges related to Hadland's death. (2 PA0055-58.) On July 6, 2005, the State filed Notices of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty against all defendants. (2 PA0059-62.) At this time, Christopher Oram was Espindola's attorney of record and Robert Draskovich was representing Hidalgo III. (2 PA0063, 0068.)

After attempting to strike the Notices of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty against both Espindola and Hidalgo III at the District Court level, those defendants brought a Petition for Writ of Mandamus, or in the Alternative, Writ of Prohibition against the District Court. (2 PA0069-0116.) The documents filed in that proceeding indicate attorney Jonell Thomas was filing on behalf of Espindola and attorney Dominic Gentile was filing for Hidalgo III. (*Id.*) While the arguments raised in that petition are only tangentially related to the instant petition, the State raised the issue of a potential conflict in Gentile's representation of Hidalgo III while apparently simultaneously representing Hidalgo, Hidalgo III's father. (2 PA0099--0114.)

In its Answer, the State first noted that:

At all times in District Court, Defendant Hidalgo [III] has been represented by Robert Draskovich and Steven Stein.... At no time, prior to the instant petition has Mr. Gentile represented Defendant Hidalgo. A review of the District Court record does not reflect that Defendant Hidalgo has substituted for counsel of record.

(2 PA0099.) The State further noted Gentile had represented to LVMPD as early as May of 2005 that his office represented Hidalgo (2 PA0101.)

Although the State noted Hidalgo had not yet been charged, it predicted that Hidalgo would eventually be charged with conspiracy to murder Hadland. (2 PA0101.) Citing these circumstances, the State argued that: (1) Gentile's contemporaneous representation of both Hidalgo III and Hidalgo was an impermissible conflict of interest due to antagonistic defenses; (2) Gentile could not effectively represent Hidalgo III while being paid by Hidalgo; (3) Gentile was a potential witness in this case; and (4) there was substantial risk of prejudice to Hidalgo III due to this conflict. (2 PA0099-0114.) In making this argument, the State argued "*it is beyond obvious that a lawyer representing the interests of Defendant Hidalgo cannot possibly represent the best interests of Mr. H [Hidalgo] in the same crime.*" (2 PA0103.) (emphasis added.)

In response, Hidalgo III claimed that Hidalgo had executed a waiver of conflict, which was filed under seal with this Court. (2 PA0175; SPA043-51.) On December 27, 2007, the Court granted the petition. (2 PA0146.) The opinion was withdrawn on February 21, 2008 and the Court granted a Petition for rehearing. (*Id.*) In its May 29, 2008 opinion, the Court addressed the State's conflict argument in a footnote:

In response to the State's argument that counsel for petitioner Luis Hidalgo III has an impermissible conflict of interest due to his

representation of Hidalgo's father in an unrelated matter, Hidalgo has moved this court to file certain exhibits under seal. Cause appearing, we grant the motions. Based on the affidavits submitted by Hidalgo, his counsel, and Hidalgo's father, we perceive no current or potential conflict sufficient to warrant counsel's disqualification at this time. See RPC 1.7. The State may renew its motion below in the future, however, if such a conflict arises.

(2 PA0148.)

On February 4, 2008, shortly before the Court granted rehearing, Espindola pleaded guilty to Voluntary Manslaughter with Use of a Deadly Weapon. (2 PA134-45.) As part of her guilty plea agreement, Espindola agreed to cooperate with the prosecution in the "State of Nevada v. Kenneth Counts, Deangelo Carroll, and Luis Hidalgo III, and any other suspect concerning the MURDER WITH USE OF A DEADLY WEAPON of TIMOTHY HADLAND..." (2 PA0142-45.) Shortly after Espindola's Agreement to Testify was executed, Hidalgo was indicted on charges related to Hadland's murder. (3 PA0262-65.)

D. The District Court Addresses the Possible Conflict of Interest Created By Gentile's Contemporaneous Representation of Hidalgo and Hidalgo III.

Following Hidalgo's Indictment, on February 13, 2008, the district court conducted a closed hearing in Hidalgo III's case regarding a potential conflict of interest in Gentile's contemporaneous representation of both Hidalgos. (SPA063-221.) The hearing was conducted in response to the State's motion to have conflict-free counsel appointed to Hidalgo III. (SPA064.) After the hearing, Hidalgo III

continued to be represented by Gentile. (2 PA0201-02.)

Gentile represented Hidalgo at his February 20, 2008 arraignment. (3 PA0266-70.) Gentile agreed to transfer the case to Department 21, where both Espindola and Hidalgo III were being tried. (*Id.*) Subsequently, the State filed its Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty noting one aggravator: “the murder was committed by a person, for himself or another, to receive money or any other thing of monetary value...” (3 PA0271-73.)

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