IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LUIS HIDALGO, JR.,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Aug 29 2017 03:58 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 71458

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MARGARET A. MCLETCHIE, ESQ. Nevada Bar #010931 McLetchie Shell LLC 701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 728-5300

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Further, the Joint Defense Agreement informed Hidalgo that any member of the Joint Defense Agreement could become a witness in the criminal case. <u>SPA</u> at

34, 38-39. It also informed Hidalgo that any member could withdraw from the agreement. <u>Id.</u> at 39. Finally, it explicitly informed Hidalgo that each client had independent counsel and each counsel had a duty to represent his or her client zealously, even if this meant advising the client to cooperate with the State. <u>Id.</u> at 40.

Accordingly, Defendant cannot show a causal connection between the alleged failure to fund Espindola's defense and the deficiency and prejudice prongs as required by <u>Strickland</u> – Espindola and Oram acted in Espindola's best interest, rather than Hidalgo's, in securing the negotiation, and the negotiation was not fueled by vindictiveness or resentment toward Defendant. This claim was properly dismissed.

Hidalgo provides nothing but a naked assertion in relation to the funding of Little Lou's defense. <u>AOB</u> 40. Hidalgo fails to show that the defense was underfunded, and fails to show how any failure to fund his son's defense prejudiced him, especially considering that father and son proceeded to trial together. Pursuant to <u>Hargrove</u>, this claim was properly dismissed. <u>Hargrove</u>, 100 Nev. at 502-03, 686 P.2d at 225.

- ///
- ///
- ///

C. Espindola's Alleged Participation in the Joint Defense Agreement and Her Subsequent Decision to Turn State's Evidence Did Not Create an Irreconcilable Conflict of Interest

Hidalgo claims that the Joint Defense Agreement and Espindola's ultimate decision to testify against him and Little Lou created an irreconcilable conflict of interest. <u>AOB</u> 41-45. This claim is meritless.

Hidalgo merely speculates that "Espindola's counsel undoubtedly participated in joint defense meetings, during which Mr. Gentile could have gleaned information which prevented him from effectively cross-examining Espindola when she testifies as a State's witness" and "[i]t is possible that Mr. Gentile had learned information during the joint defense meetings which would have provided fertile ground for impeachment." <u>AOB</u> 43. While Hidalgo points to specific meetings between he, Oram, Espindola, and Gentile, he does not establish that the subject matter of these meetings constituted fodder for cross-examination. In fact, the substance of these meetings appear to be the funding requests outlined above and instruction for Espindola not to speak with DeAngelo Carrol, which would not be important for cross-examination.

Second, Hidalgo waived any conflict of interest that could be asserted in the event a co-defendant testified. Even after the Ninth Circuit decided <u>United States v.</u> <u>Henke</u>, 222 F.3d 633, 637 (9th Cir. 2000), courts bound by its precedent have found that conflicts of interest arising from an agreement may be waived. In <u>United States</u> <u>v. Stepney</u>, 246 F. Supp. 2d 1069, 1085 (N.D. Cal. 2003), the United States District Court for the Northern District of California found appropriate the following waiver provision, taken from the American Law Institute-American Bar Association model joint defense agreement:

Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to create an attorney-client relationship between any attorney and anyone other than the client of that attorney and the fact that any attorney has entered this Agreement shall not be used as a basis for seeking to disgualify any counsel from representing any other party in this or any other proceeding; and no attorney who has entered into this Agreement shall be disqualified from examining or cross-examining any client who testifies at any proceeding, whether under a grant of immunity or otherwise, because of such attorney's participation in this Agreement; and the signatories and their clients further agree that a signatory attorney examining or cross-examining any client who testifies at any proceeding, whether under a grant of immunity or otherwise, may use any Defense Material or other information contributed by such client during the joint defense; and it is herein represented that each undersigned counsel to this Agreement has specifically advised his or her respective client of this clause and that such client has agreed to its provisions.

The court specifically noted the advantages of this sort of provision:

Under this regime, all defendants have waived any duty of confidentiality for purposes of cross-examining testifying defendants, and generally an attorney can cross-examine using any and all materials, free from any conflicts of interest. This form of waiver also places the loss of the benefits of the joint defense agreement only on the defendant who makes the choice to testify. Defendants who testify for the government under a grant of immunity lose nothing by this waiver. Those that testify on their own behalf have already made the decision to waive their Fifth Amendment right against selfincrimination and to admit evidence through their cross-examination that would otherwise be inadmissible.

The conditional waiver of confidentiality also provides notice to defendants that their confidences may be used in cross-examination, so that each defendant can choose with suitable caution what to reveal to the joint defense group. Although a limitation on confidentiality between a defendant and his own attorney would pose a severe threat to the true attorney-client relationship, making each defendant somewhat more guarded about the disclosures he makes to the joint defense effort does not significantly intrude on the function of joint defense agreements.

<u>Id.</u> at 1085-86; <u>see also United States v. Almeida</u>, 341 F.3d 1318, 1326 (11th Cir. 2003) ("We hold that when each party to a joint defense agreement is represented by his own attorney, and when communications by one co-defendant are made to the attorneys of other co-defendants, such communications do not get the benefit of the attorney-client privilege in the event that the co-defendant decides to testify on behalf of the government in exchange for a reduced sentence."); <u>United States v.</u> <u>Reeves</u>, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 139127, *42 (D.N.J. Dec. 2, 2011) (accepting a waiver of conflict of interests in a joint defense agreement).¹⁷

The Joint Defense Waiver provided for a waiver to the same effect. Hidalgo and his co-defendants agreed that, in the event that one of them became a witness for the State, that would *not* create a conflict of interest so as to require disqualification. <u>SPA</u> at 38. The Agreement acknowledged that each client was informed that if a member defected, his or her counsel could be in possession of

¹⁷ Citation to <u>Reeves</u> is permissible pursuant to Rule 32.1(a) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure, which prohibits a court from restricting citation to "federal judicial opinions, orders, judgments, or other written dispositions that have been ... issued on or after January 1, 2007." <u>Accord Gibbs v. United States</u>, 865 F. Supp. 2d 1127, 1133 n.3 (M.D. Fla. 2012), <u>aff'd</u>, 517 Fed. App'x. 664 (2013) (although an unpublished opinion is not binding, it is persuasive authority).

information previously shared, including confidences. <u>Id.</u> The Agreement specified that nothing in it was intended to create an attorney-client relationship and information obtained pursuant to the Agreement could not be used to disqualify a member of the joint defense group. <u>Id.</u> Hidalgo then knowingly and intelligently waived *any* conflict of interest that might otherwise be available based upon the sharing of information pursuant to the Agreement outweighed the risks. <u>Id.</u> Thus, this agreement constituted a knowing and voluntary waiver of any claim of a conflict of interest, because his informed choice to enter the Joint Defense Agreement extinguished any claim of such.

While <u>Henke</u> is merely persuasive, <u>see Blanton v. North Las Vegas Mun. Ct.</u>, 103 Nev. 623, 633, 748 P.2d 494, 500 (1987) (decisions of federal courts not binding), and Nevada courts have not determined whether a Joint Defense Agreement can create an attorney-client relationship between a lawyer and another member of the joint defense agreement, the case is nonetheless distinguishable. Notably, a limited attorney-client relationship was *implied* from the joint defense agreement in <u>Henke</u>. Here, however, the plain language of the joint defense agreement provided that *no such relationship was created* from the joint defense group. "[A]bsent some countervailing reason, contracts will be construed from the written language and enforced as written." Ellison v. California State Auto. Ass'n, 106 Nev. 601, 603, 797 P.2d 975, 977 (1990). There is no reason the law should imply an attorney-client relationship when Hidalgo has explicitly agreed that no such relationship existed. Further, in <u>Henke</u>, the parties asserted confidentiality and threatened legal action if confidences were not protected. <u>Henke</u>, 222 F.3d at 638. In contrast, here the Agreement waived all conflicts of interest and acknowledged that information obtained during joint defense meetings could be in the hands of a defecting member should he or she choose to testify. Finally, the court in <u>Henke</u> relied on the fact that the confidential information *had* in fact been exchanged, and distinguished cases where joint defense meetings would not create a conflict of interest:

There may be cases in which defense counsel's possession of information about a former co-defendant/government witness learned through joint defense meetings will not impair defense counsel's ability to represent the defendant or breach the duty of confidentiality to the former co-defendant. Here, however, counsel told the district court that this was not a situation where they could avoid reliance on the privileged information and still fully uphold their ethical duty to represent their clients.

<u>Henke</u>, 222 F.3d at 638. Hidalgo has not shown that his counsel obtained confidential information from the joint defense meetings. Thus, he cannot establish a conflict of interest, even under <u>Henke</u>, that would have disqualified Gentile from representing him.

Finally, Hidalgo again fails to satisfy the Sixth Amendment test for determining an actual, rather than a potential, conflict of interest, as he fails to show that counsel's performance was hindered. Clark, 108 Nev. at 326, 831 P.2d at 1376. Mr. Gentile vigorously cross-examined Espindola. He questioned Espindola's motives to testify, including the possibility of the death penalty, her mother's illness, and Defendant's infidelity. 11 PA 1758-78, 1802-03. Further, he specifically asked her about joint defense meetings and meetings that lead to the joint defense. He questioned Espindola about a meeting where Gentile and Oram were present and where Espindola listened to the Carroll recordings. 11 PA 1737. He questioned Espindola about the meeting with his partner, Jerry DePalma, Esq., and questioned her veracity when she claimed that she said nothing of substance to DePalma that day. 11 PA 1741-43. He cross-examined her about another meeting between him and her, along with Defendant and Oram, directly citing the Agreement. 11 PA 1791-92. Gentile was in no way hindered in his cross-examination by the Agreement, and Hidalgo failed to meet his burden of showing an actual conflict of interest. Accordingly, this claim was properly denied.

II. COUNSEL MADE A REASONABLE STRATEGIC DECISION IN AGREEING TO CONSOLIDATE

Hidalgo next complains that counsel rendered ineffective assistance by agreeing to consolidation. <u>AOB</u> 45-53.

This Court rejected Little Lou's claim regarding his counsel's conceding the consolidation motion in his appeal from the denial of his habeas petition. 22 PA 3782-85. While Little Lou's claim was raised on different grounds, concerning the exclusion of evidence he claims would have been admitted were the cases not tried together, this denial is persuasive. <u>Id.</u>

Hidalgo acknowledges the consolidation decision was made in exchange for the State's withdrawal of its Notice of Intent to Seek the Death Penalty. AOB 46. This bargain was clearly a reasonable strategy decision. After lengthy efforts to remove execution as a possible punishment, including writ proceedings before this Court, Gentile's concession won the war by taking death off the table and sparing Hidalgo the ultimate punishment. While Hidalgo now states that "[t]he limited impact of the removal of the death penalty is evident in the jury's conviction of both Hidalgos for Second Degree Murder, rather than First Degree Murder," he speaks with the benefit of hindsight – at the time, the threat of the death penalty was real, and efforts to strike all statutory aggravators had fallen short. AOB 46. Hidalgo argues that only 14% of death-eligible defendant's receive the death penalty. AOB 49. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that this is accurate, a 14% chance of death is hardly insignificant, and is approximately the same as playing Russian Roulette. Counsel can reasonably decide to jointly try a case rather than gamble with his client's life. The Strickland standard does not ask counsel to act with clairvoyance - it asks

counsel to act reasonably at the time the decision in question is being made. At the time counsel stipulated to consolidation, the death penalty remained a possibility, and counsel's decision was well-reasoned.

In addition, the decision was a sound one, considering that the Motion to Consolidate would likely succeed.¹⁸ In order to promote efficiency and equitable outcomes, Nevada law favors trying multiple defendants together. Jones v. State, 111 Nev. 848, 853, 899 P.2d 544, 547 (1995). As a general rule, defendants who are indicted together shall be tried together, absent a compelling reason to the contrary. Rowland v. State, 118 Nev. 31, 44, 39 P.3d 114, 122 (2002). "A district court should grant a severance only if there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of one of the defendants, or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence." Chartier v. State, 124 Nev. 760, 765, 191 P.3d 1182, 1185 (2008) (quoting Marshall v. State, 118 Nev. 642, 646, 56 P.3d 376, 378 (2002)); see also NRS 174.165.

Severance is generally proper in two instances. The first is where the codefendants' theories of defense are so antagonistic that they are "mutually exclusive" such that "the core of the codefendant's defense is so irreconcilable with

¹⁸ Hidalgo appears to complain of efforts to move this case to the same department as Little Lou's case. <u>AOB</u> 45-46. This decision was reasonable in light of Hidalgo's initial desire to have the same attorney as Little Lou. In addition, Hidalgo cannot show any prejudice, as the State could have sought consolidation even absent the case being sent to the same department.

the core of the defendant's own defense that the acceptance of the codefendant's theory by the jury precludes acquittal of the defendant." <u>Chartier</u>, 124 Nev. at 765, 191 P.3d at 1185 (quoting <u>Rowland</u>, 118 Nev. at 45, 39 P.3d at 122-23) (alteration omitted). The second instance is "where a failure to sever hinders a defendant's ability to prove his theory of the case." <u>Id.</u> at 767, 191 P.3d at 1187.

Even when one of the above situations are presented, a defendant must also show that there is "a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right . . . or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence." <u>Marshall</u>, 118 Nev. at 647, 56 P.3d at 379 (quoting <u>Zafiro v. United</u> <u>States</u>, 506 U.S. 534, 539, 113 S. Ct. 933, 938 (1993)). To show prejudice from an improper joinder "requires more than simply showing that severance made acquittal more likely; misjoinder requires reversal only if it has a substantial and injurious effect on the verdict." <u>Chartier</u>, 124 Nev. at 764-65, 191 P.3d at 1185 (quoting <u>Marshall</u>, 118 Nev. at 647, 56 P.3d at 379). Further, "some level of prejudice exists in a joint trial, error in refusing to sever joint trials is subject to harmless-error review." <u>Id.</u>

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